Integrated
Report

Table of Contents
01 		 Chairman’s Report
02 		 CEO Report
03 		 Financial Report
		
Directors’ responsibility statement
Company Secretary’s certificate

01
02
03
05
06

		 Independent auditor’s report

07

		 Report of the Audit and Risk Committee

09

		 Directors’ report

11

Statement of financial position

15

Statement of comprehensive income

16

		 Statement of changes in equity

17

Statement of cash flows

18

		 Accounting policies
		
Notes to the financial statements

04 		 Notice of AGM

19
26

40

Chairman’s Report
TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF THE SA SME
FUND LIMITED

Dear Shareholders
I am pleased to present the 2019 Annual Financial Report and
Financial Statements of The SA SME Fund Limited.
The year to 28 February 2019 was a successful one for The SA
SME Fund. In line with our commitment to deploy funds more
rapidly during this period, the Fund committed and invested
R355 million in PAPE Fund 3, SummerPlace Equity Fund 1 and
Savant Venture Capital Fund 1, and a Section 12 J Venture Capital
Company (“VCC”) managed by Knife Capital.
Subsequent to year end, a further R570 million of investments have
been approved or committed. We anticipate that the Fund’s capital
will be fully deployed before the end of the 2020 financial year.
As part of our vision to leverage the collective resources of our
corporate shareholder base, the CEO Initiative was launched
during the year. We have a bold goal: to scale 5 to 10 Black founded
and led high growth companies into businesses of significant scale
(value of R500 million +) in a period of 3 to 5 years.
We ran a rigorous selection process with Endeavor ScaleUp to
identify these entrepreneurs and companies. The team received over
140 nominations from our shareholders and selected 7 businesses
as CEO Circle Entrepreneurs 2019. Personalised pathways have
been developed for these companies to help them scale. Importantly,
this includes introductions to senior executives in our shareholder
companies and high calibre mentors to guide them.
I greatly appreciate the time and support you have given to this
initiative, and am excited by what we can collectively achieve.
On the leadership front, Ketan Gordhan was appointed as CEO
with effect from 1 September 2018. Dr Christo Wiese and Dr Dan
Matjila both resigned from the board during the year and Mr Brian
Joffe resigned subsequent to year end to pursue other interests. I
would like to thank them, as well as the rest of our board members
for their commitment to our goal of stimulating economic growth
and building an optimistic narrative via entrepreneurship.

A Gore 		
Chairman
11 October 2019
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CEO report
The year under review saw significant progress in the company’s
investment strategy and the deployment of funds into the SME
sector. A revised, more focused mandate resulted in the company
targeting investments in three core pillars, namely Growth, Venture
Capital and Incubation, Impact and Support Investments.

i. Growth investments:
Committed at 28 February 2019: R225 million
Total commitments to date: R 225 million
The growth pillar will focus on investing in fund managers that
have experience in investing in small and medium size businesses
and in assisting them to achieve growth and transformation.
Investments in this pillar include:
• PAPE Fund 3: R100 million
PAPE Fund 3 is an established, black-owned, boutique private
equity manager that invests in cash generative businesses
with growth and expansion attributes. The fund achieved first
close on 10 July 2018 and has subsequently invested in two
portfolio companies in the Logistics and FinTech sectors.
• SummerPlace Equity Fund 1: R125 million
SummerPlace Equity Fund 1 is a first-time women-owned and
managed private equity fund that the company is incubating.
The focus of the fund is on investing into credible existing SMEs
with high growth potential. Subsequent to year end, the fund
has completed its first investment in the transport sector.

ii. Venture capital and incubation:
Committed at 28 February 2019: R130 million
Total commitments to date: R340 million
Additional approved commitments: R185 million
The company aims to play a catalytic role in the development of the
Venture Capital industry in South Africa and believes that a strong
Venture Capital industry is crucial to stimulate growth and innovation
in the country. Venture Capital investments during the year include:
• Knife Capital: R20 million (plus R10 million additional
investment subsequent to year end)
Knife is an independent growth equity investment firm
focusing on innovation-driven ventures with proven traction
and had invested in five portfolio companies as at the end
of the financial period. These companies cover a variety of
sectors, including machine learning, the Internet of Things and
the beverage industry.
• Savant Venture Fund 1: R110 million
Savant is a commercially focused hardware technology
incubator and fund that provides bespoke business
development support. Savant partners with highly skilled
science and technology inventors for their start-up and
commercialisation journey.

Subsequent to year end, the company has committed a further
R200 million to two Venture Capital funds operating in the early
stage tech and BioTech industries. A further R185 million of
commitments in this pillar have been approved by the Investment
Committee as at the date of this report. This includes R150
million commitment to a University Technology Fund that’s aim
is to facilitate the commercialisation of intellectual property
developed within the South African higher education system.  

iii. Impact and Support investments:
Committed at 28 February 2019: R0
Total commitments to date: R150 million
Additional approved commitments: R25 million
Research has indicated that one of the significant challenges
facing SMEs is access to finance. Equity financing alone solves
only a small element of this challenge and, for the majority of
SMEs, debt financing is actually far more impactful. In response
to this need, the company has invested R100 million in Spartan, a
specialist debt financing house for SMEs, focussed strictly on small
and growing businesses. In addition, the company has committed
R50 million to a fund operating in the fuel sector to provide
entrepreneurs with a mixture of debt and equity for expansion.
A2Pay operates in the township economy, providing technology
solutions to the informal retail market with the objective of
instilling financial disciplines and fostering financial inclusion. The
Investment Committee has approved a debt facility of R25 million
to A2Pay for on-lending to retailers in the primary market for
expansion and growth.  

Looking forward
The fund is now almost fully committed, with the final commitments
expected to be approved by the Investment Committee before the
end of the year. I would like to thank the shareholders for their
continued support and their commitment to making a difference
and anticipate that a final call for additional subscriptions will be
made before the end of the year.
I am proud of the achievements of the company in committing
almost R1 billion in a period of less than 18 months and of
the impact that these commitments will have on the broader
ecosystem and economy.
I would like to thank the board of directors and members of
the Investment Committee for their uwavering support and
stewardship in creating a company that can make a meaningful
difference to the South African SME landscape.

Ketan Gordhan 		
Chief Executive Officer
11 October 2019

02

The SA SME Fund Limited
(Registration No. 2016/238385/06)
Financial Statements
for the year ended 28 February 2019

03

General Information

04

Country of incorporation and domicile:

Republic of South Africa

Company registration number:

2016/238385/06

Nature of business and principal activities:

Investment company
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Directors’ responsibility
statement
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 28 FEBRUARY 2019

Directors’ responsibility to the shareholders of The SA SME Fund Limited
The directors of The SA SME Fund Limited (“The SA SME Fund”
or “the company”) are responsible for the preparation and fair
presentation of the annual financial statements. These annual
financial statements have been prepared in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements
of the Companies Act 71 of 2008. In discharging this responsibility,
the directors rely on management to prepare the annual financial
statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards and for keeping adequate accounting records in
accordance with the company’s system of internal control.
C Winter supervised the preparation of the annual financial
statements for the year ended 28 February 2019.
In preparing the annual financial statements, suitable accounting
policies in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards have been applied and reasonable judgements and
estimates have been made by management. The annual financial
statements incorporate full and responsible disclosure in accordance
with the company’s philosophy on corporate governance.
The directors are responsible for the company’s system of internal
control. To enable the directors to meet these responsibilities,
the directors set the standards for internal control to reduce
the risk of error or loss in a cost effective manner. The standards
include the appropriate delegation of responsibilities within
a clearly defined framework, effective accounting procedures
and adequate segregation of duties to ensure an acceptable
level of risk. The focus of risk management in the company is on
identifying, assessing, managing and monitoring all known forms
of risk across the company.

A Gore 		
Chairman

Based on the information and explanations given by management,
nothing has come to the attention of the directors to indicate that
the internal controls are inadequate and that the financial records
may not be relied on in preparing the annual financial statements
in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
and maintaining accountability for the company’s assets and
liabilities. Nothing has come to the attention of the directors to
indicate any breakdown in the functioning of internal controls,
resulting in a material loss to the company, during the year ended
28 February 2019 and up to the date of this report. Based on the
effective internal controls implemented by management, the
directors are satisfied that the annual financial statements fairly
present the state of affairs of the company at the end of the year
ended 28 February 2019, and the net income and cash flows for
the year ended 28 February 2019.
The annual financial statements have been prepared on a going
concern basis. The directors have no reason to believe that the
company will not be a going concern in the year ahead.
It is the responsibility of the company’s independent external
auditors, Deloitte & Touche, to report on the fair presentation of
the annual financial statements. These annual financial statements
have been audited in terms of Section 29(1) of the Companies Act
71 of 2008. Their report appears on pages 7 to 8.
The annual financial statements of the company, which appear on
pages 15 to 39, were approved by the Board of Directors on 30
August 2019 and are signed on its behalf by:

NG Payne
Director
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Company Secretary’s
certificate
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 28 FEBRUARY 2019

Declaration by the Company Secretary
in respect of Section 88 (2) (e) of the
Companies Act 71 of 2008
I declare that to the best of my knowledge, the company has
lodged with the Commissioner of the Companies and Intellectual
Property Commission, all such returns and notices as required of a
public company in terms of the Companies Act and that all returns
and notices are true, correct and up to date.

C Winter
Company Secretary
30 August 2019
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Independent Auditor’s
Report
TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF THE
SA SME FUND LIMITED

Opinion

Other Information

We have audited the financial statements of The SA SME Fund
Limited (“the company”) set out on pages 15 to 39, which comprise
the statement of financial position as at 28 February 2019, and the
statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the
statement of changes in equity and the statement of cash flows for
the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises the General Information, the Directors’
responsibility statement, the Company Secretary’s certificate,
the Report of the Audit and Risk Committee, and the Directors’
report, as required by the Companies Act of South Africa. The
other information does not include the financial statements and
our auditor’s report thereon.

In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all
material respects, the financial position of the company as at
28 February 2019, and its financial performance and cash flows
for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Companies Act
of South Africa.

Basis for Opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International
Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report.
We are independent of the company in accordance with the
sections 290 and 291 of the Independent Regulatory Board for
Auditors’ Code of Professional Conduct for Registered Auditors
(Revised January 2018), parts 1 and 3 of the Independent
Regulatory Board for Auditors’ Code of Professional Conduct
for Registered Auditors (Revised November 2018) (together the
IRBA Codes) and other independence requirements applicable
to performing audits of financial statements in South Africa. We
have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities, as applicable, in
accordance with the IRBA Codes and in accordance with other
ethical requirements applicable to performing audits in South
Africa. The IRBA Codes are consistent with the corresponding
sections of the International Ethics Standards Board for
Accountants’ Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants and
the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’
International Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants
(including International Independence Standards) respectively.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other
information and we do not express an audit opinion or any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.
In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent
with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the
audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.
If, based on the work we have performed on the other information
that we obtained prior to the date of this auditor’s report, we
conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing
to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the Directors for
the Financial Statements
The directors are responsible for the preparation and fair
presentation of the financial statements in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements
of the Companies Act of South Africa, and for such internal control
as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible
for assessing the company’s ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the company or to cease operations, or
have no realistic alternative but to do so.

National Executive: *LL Bam Chief Executive Officer *TMM Jordan Deputy Chief Executive Officer; Clients & Industries *MJ Jarvis Chief
Operating Officer *AF Mackie Audit & Assurance *N Sing Risk Advisory DP Ndlovu Tax & Legal TP Pilay Consulting * JK Mazzocco Talent &
Transformation MG Dicks Risk Independence & Legal *KL Hodson Financal Advisory *TJ Brown Chairman of the Board
A full list of partners and directors is available on request
*Partner and Registered Auditor
B-BBEE rating: Level 1 contribution in terms of the DTI Generic Scorecard as per the amended Codes of Good Practice
Associate of Deloitte Africa, a Member of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Limited
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit
of the Financial Statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an
auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance
is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or
error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.
As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:
• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design
and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than
for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control.
• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the company’s internal control.

Deloitte & Touche
Registered Auditor
Per: Claudette van der Merwe
Partner
30 August 2019
Financial Services Team - FIST
Building 8
Deloitte Place
The Woodlands
Woodlands Drive
Woodmead Sandton
Docex 10 Johannesburg
Private Bag X6
Gallo Manor 2052
South Africa
Tel: +27 (0)11 806 5200
Fax: +27 (0)11 806 5222
www.deloitte.com
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•

•

•

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.
Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required
to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related
disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the company to cease to continue as a going concern.
Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the
financial statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

Report of the Audit and
Risk Committee
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 28 FEBRUARY 2019

We are pleased to present our report for the year ended 28
February 2019. This report is made pursuant to the requirements
of Section 94(7)(f) of the Companies Act (71 of 2008, as amended)
of South Africa.

Composition of the Committee
The Committee is an independent statutory committee and
consists of three independent non-executive directors with
sufficient expertise to enable the Committee to discharge its
statutory and appointed duties.
Its members comprise the Chairman, Mr NG Payne, Ms DD
Mokgatle and Dr NJ Dlamini. The Chairman of the Committee
attends the Annual General Meeting.
The Committee meets at least twice a year and, with the approval of
the Chairman, at the request of the Chief Executive Officer (CEO),
or the Chief Financial Officer (CFO), or other members of senior
management or the external auditors, may hold additional meetings.
Comprehensive minutes of the meetings are kept. The CEO and
CFO attend the meetings by invitation. The Committee may invite,
at its discretion, representatives from the external auditors, other
assurance providers, professional advisors and Board members.
The company’s independent external auditors have unrestricted
access to the Committee and its Chairman.
During the year under review, three meetings were held.

Roles and responsibilities
The Committee’s roles and responsibilities include its statutory duties
as per the Companies Act, as well as the responsibilities assigned
to it by the Board and as documented in the Committee’s terms of
reference, which is updated periodically and approved by the Board.
The Committee is satisfied that it has fulfilled all its duties during
the financial year under review as further detailed below.

Compliance with statutory duties
In the execution of its statutory duties, during the period under
review, the Committee:
• Nominated Deloitte & Touche to the shareholders for
appointment as the independent external auditors for the
year ended 28 February 2019.
• Satisfied itself that Deloitte & Touche are independent of
the company.
• Agreed the terms of engagement of the external auditors.
• Ensured that the appointment of the auditors complies with
the Companies Act.
• Noted and approved the non-audit services provided by the
external auditors.
• Noted that it had not received any complaints, either from
within or outside the company, relating to the accounting
practices, the content or audit of the company’s financial
statements or any other related matter.

Risk management and oversight
The Committee assists the Board to ensure a coordinated approach
is applied to provide assurance on the recognition and management
of significant risks facing the company. The Committee is responsible
for the development and review of a risk management framework
to ensure that the significant risks facing the company have been
identified and can be properly managed and monitored and that the
disclosure and reporting of risk is complete, timely and relevant.
The Committee reviewed the risk management framework and is
satisfied that the significant risks facing the company have been
identified and are being managed effectively.

Review of the finance function
The Committee has considered and has satisfied itself of the
appropriateness and experience of the CFO, Caryn Winter. The
Committee has furthermore considered and satisfied itself of the
appropriateness of the expertise and adequacy of the resources of
the company’s finance function. Discovery Limited has continued
to assist with certain aspects of financial administration in order
to maintain effective financial control as a result of the constraints
due to the size of the company’s finance function.
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Compliance
The Committee is responsible for reviewing the system for monitoring
compliance with applicable laws and regulations and obtaining updates
from management regarding any instances of non-compliance.
The Committee is satisfied that there has been no material noncompliance with laws or regulations.

External audit
The company’s external auditors attend all the Audit and Risk
Committee meetings and the Annual General Meeting of
shareholders, and have direct access to the Chairman of the
Committee. The Committee agreed the nature and scope of the
audit with the external auditors prior to commencement of the audit
to ensure that it addressed the critical risk areas of the company.
In previous years, Deloitte & Touche has undertaken the audit on
a pro-bono basis. However, as the company has now commenced
its investment programme, resulting in an increase in audit effort
required, an audit fee of eight hundred thousand Rand has been
incurred in the 2020 financial year in respect of the audit for the
year ended 28 February 2019.

NG Payne
Chairman
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Integrated reporting and the annual
financial statements
The Committee has reviewed the audited annual financial
statements of the company and is satisfied that they comply with
International Financial Reporting Standards and the Companies
Act, and that the accounting policies used are appropriate.
The Committee has also reviewed a documented assessment
by management of the going concern premise of the company
as well as the Directors’ report and additional information to be
included in the Integrated Report of the company. The Committee
notes, in particular, the significance of the continued support
of the shareholders and the phased drawdown of investment
commitments over a three to five year period, as described more
fully in the Directors’ report and Note 19 to the financial statements.
The Committee recommends the approval of the annual financial
statements to the Board.
On behalf of the Audit and Risk Committee:

Directors’ report
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 28 FEBRUARY 2019

The directors submit their report on the annual financial statements
of The SA SME Fund for the year ended 28 February 2019.

Incorporation
The company was incorporated on 7 June 2016 and obtained its
certificate to commence business on the same day.

Nature of business
The SA SME Fund was established as part of the CEO Initiative
in conjunction with National Treasury and Corporate South
Africa. The company’s objective is to invest in high-potential
entrepreneurial enterprises in the Small Medium Enterprises
(“SME”) Sector and to provide business and other forms of support
to the SME sector and entrepreneurs funded by the company.

Review of results
Investment overview
During the year under the review, the company embarked on its
investment programme and committed a total of R335 million to
three funds by the end of the financial year, of which R34.3m was
drawn down for investment in portfolio companies by PAPE Fund 3.
In addition, the company invested R20 million in KNF Ventures (RF)
Proprietary Limited, a Section 12J Venture Capital Company.
The company has three core investment pillars, namely Growth,
Venture Capital and Incubation, and Impact and Support Investments.

Growth
As at the balance sheet date, the company has committed R225
million to investments falling within the growth mandate. These
investments include R100 million committed to PAPE Fund 3
(“PAPE”) and R125 million committed to SummerPlace Equity Fund 1
(“SummerPlace”), as disclosed in Note 17 to the financial statements.
PAPE Fund 3 is an established, black-owned, boutique private equity
manager that invests in cash generative businesses with growth and
expansion attributes. The fund achieved first close on 10 July 2018
and has subsequently invested in two portfolio companies in the
Logistics and FinTech sectors. The fair value of these investments
at 28 February 2019 is R34.1 million, as disclosed in Note 4 to the
financial statements. As at the balance sheet date, the company has
undrawn commitments to PAPE of R59.796 million.

Venture Capital and Incubation
The company has committed R130 million to investments in the
Venture Capital pillar of the mandate as at 28 February 2019.
During the year, the company invested R20 million in KNF Ventures
(RF) Proprietary Limited, a Section 12J Venture Capital Company
managed by Knife Capital (together described as ”Knife”). Knife
is an independent growth equity investment firm focusing on
innovation-driven ventures with proven traction and had invested
in five portfolio companies as at the end of the financial period.
These companies cover a variety of sectors, including machine
learning, the Internet of Things and the beverage industry. The
fair value of the investment in Knife as at the balance sheet date
is R19.8 million as disclosed in Note 4 to the financial statements.
Subsequent to year end, the company has invested a further R10
million in Knife.
In addition to the investment in Knife, the company has partnered
with Knife to establish Grindstone 5, an incubation programme
designed to identify entrepreneurs with scale-able businesses and
provide them with the strategic, management and technical skills
needed to scale up their businesses and make them investment ready.
The second investment within the Venture Capital mandate is a
commitment of R100 million to Savant Venture Fund 1 (“Savant”)
and an additional R10 million Incubation loan facility to be utilised
by Savant to make incubator investments in potential portfolio
companies, as disclosed in Note 17 to the financial statements.
Savant is a commercially focused hardware technology incubator
and fund that provides bespoke business development support.
Savant partners with highly skilled science and technology
inventors for their start-up and commercialisation journey. As at
the balance sheet date, the company has undrawn commitments
to Savant of R98.68 million.

Subsequent events
Investments
Subsequent to year end, the company has committed a further
R233.5 million as disclosed in Note 20.2 to the financial statements.
These commitments include R125 million to 4Di Capital Fund III
as well as R108.5 million of debt facilities to specialist SME debt
providers and potential Venture Capital pipeline companies. 4Di
Capital Fund III is a well-established venture capital firm that will
identify and invest into early stage tech businesses.

SummerPlace Equity Fund 1 is a first-time women-owned and
managed private equity fund that the company is incubating.
The focus of the fund is on investing into credible existing SMEs
with high growth potential. Subsequent to year end, the fund has
completed its first investment in the transport sector. As at the
balance sheet date, the company has undrawn commitments to
SummerPlace of R123.84 million.
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The company has provided a debt facility of R100 million to
Spartan SME Finance (“Spartan”). Spartan is a specialist debt
financing house for small and medium size enterprises and focuses
solely on lending to small and growing businesses.
A R5 million loan facility has been provided by the company to A2Pay,
a FinTech business that provides advanced vending solutions to
empower and grow small retail stores (spaza shops). The facility will
be used for on-lending to spaza shop owners for (i) working capital; (ii)
additional spaza shops; or (iii) building of back rooms.
In addition to the above-mentioned two debt facilities, the
company has invested R3.5 million in a convertible promissory
note issued in equal amounts by Custos Media Technologies
and CMT Research. It is anticipated that the investment will be
transferred in due course to one of the venture capital funds
supported by the company.

Human Resources
The former CEO, Quinton Dicks, resigned during the year. Ketan
Gordhan was appointed CEO with effect from 1 September 2018.
The investment team was strengthened by the employment of
two associate deal executives on three year contracts.

Going concern

Subsequent to year end, a further R4 million has been received from
shareholders subscribing for additional shares in terms of the notice
issued to shareholders in November 2018. This has resulted in 4
million additional shares being allotted and issued after year end.

The directors have considered the financial position of the company
and are of the view that the company remains a going concern. While
the company currently makes operating losses and is expected
to do so for the foreseeable future, the company has significant
cash balances and its total assets exceed its total liabilities by
R489.4 million. The directors have reviewed the outstanding
commitments relative to the company’s cash balances and note
that the commitments (other than the debt facilities provided) will
be drawn down by the investee funds over a period of three to five
years. Furthermore, the directors are confident of the commitment
of shareholders. The company has the ability to draw down on
outstanding subscriptions of R859 million as and when required.
The fund of funds business model of the company has also been
considered by the directors in their assessment of going concern.
This model assumes that the company will have an investment
period of approximately five years during which available funds will
be invested in portfolio funds / companies in the SME sector. It is
only after this investment period that the company is expected to
generate realised returns from its investment programme.

Financial review

Share capital and share premium

As is to be expected in the early years of a company of this nature,
a net after tax loss of R23,315,793 (2018: R24,803,427) was
recorded for the period under review.

The company was incorporated with authorised share capital of
3,000,000,000 ordinary no par value shares. The company has
issued 537,600,000 (2018: 139,700,000) shares of R1 each as at
28 February 2019.

Further commitments of R125 million have been approved by the
Investment Committee subject to certain conditions precedent
being met. The company is working with the fund managers to
complete the outstanding conditions.
It is anticipated that the company will be almost fully committed
by the end of the third quarter of 2019.

Share capital

The company’s primary source of income during the financial
year was investment income, which was made up of interest
income earned on the placement of cash received in respect of
shareholder subscriptions, and dividends and interest received
from its investments. The company takes a conservative approach
to cash management and invests its excess cash in short term
money market type facilities or notice deposits with the primary
banking institutions. The company recognised a small fair value
gain on its portfolio investments during the period.
Operating expenses for the year comprised primarily staff costs, fund
management, advisory and service fees, and ecosystem development
costs. The commencement of the investment programme resulted in
increased investment-related costs, including fund management and
advisory fees, due diligence costs and legal fees.
The company issued a notice to shareholders to subscribe for
additional shares at the end of November 2018. As at the end of
the financial year, a total of R397.9 million had been received from
shareholders in this regard and an equivalent number of shares
had been allotted and issued.
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Discovery Limited continued to assist with financial administration
due to the small size of the company’s finance team and to ensure
that good corporate governance structures are in place.

Dividends
The directors did not declare a dividend nor is any proposed for
the year ended 28 February 2019. No dividend was declared
during the year ended 28 February 2018 either.

Holding company
The company is a public company and is not owned or controlled
by any significant shareholder.

Directorate
The following were directors of the company during the current financial year:

Executive / Non-executive
director

Name of director

Date of appointment

Date of resignation

A Gore

Non-executive Chairman

7 June 2016

NJ Dlamini

Non-executive director

7 June 2016

B Joffe

Non-executive director

7 June 2016

JA Mabuza

Non-executive director

27 June 2016

DM Matjila

Non-executive director

7 June 2016

DD Mokgatle

Non-executive director

7 June 2016

NG Payne

Non-executive director

27 June 2016

CH Wiese

Non-executive director

27 June 2016

12 September 2018

QM Dicks

Chief Executive Officer

30 March 2017

31 July 2018

LM Klein

Non-executive director
(alternate)

23 October 2017

30 September 2019

4 February 2019

Registered office
Postal address
1 Discovery Place
PO Box 786722
Sandton				Sandton
2196
2146

Directors’ remuneration
The former CEO, Quinton Dicks, was appointed to the Board of Directors on 30 March 2017 and resigned effective 31 July 2018. Emoluments paid
to him during this period are as disclosed in Note 13 to the financial statements. Ketan Gordhan was appointed CEO with effect from 1 September
2018 and has been identified as a Prescribed Officer of the company. Remuneration paid to him is disclosed in Note 13 to the financial statements.
The non-executive directors do not receive any remuneration or fees for their services to the company.

Directors’ interests in contracts
No contracts involving directors’ interests were entered into in the current period. The directors had no interest in any third party or company
responsible for managing any of the business activities of The SA SME Fund, except as disclosed under the Review of results.

Corporate governance
The Board is ultimately responsible for The SA SME Fund’s business, strategy and key policies and for the approval of the financial objectives
and targets. The Board currently consists of seven non-executive directors, including an alternate non-executive director. In terms of the
Company’s Memorandum of Incorporation, at each Annual General Meeting at least one third of the non-executive directors is required to
retire, as are any directors appointed subsequent to the previous AGM. The retiring directors may be re-elected provided they are eligible.
Indefinite and life directorships are not permitted.
During the period under review, the Board met three times.
The Board is supported and assisted by two committees with clear mandates and oversight responsibilities for various aspects of the
business. The responsibilities delegated to each committee are formally documented in the terms of reference for that committee, which
have been approved by the Board.
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Audit and Risk Committee
The Audit and Risk Committee is an independent statutory committee with responsibility for external audit oversight, financial controls, and
reporting and risk management oversight. The members of the Audit and Risk Committee are Mr NG Payne (Chairman), Dr NJ Dlamini and
Ms DD Mokgatle.
The Audit and Risk Committee report is included on pages 9 and 10 of this report.

Remuneration Committee
The role of the Remuneration Committee is to ensure the fair and responsible remuneration of the company’s directors and senior executives,
as well as to make recommendations on the appointment of directors and senior executives and on the company’s remuneration policies. The
members of the Remuneration Committee are Mr A Gore, Mr J Mabuza and Dr NJ Dlamini.
The Remuneration Committee met twice during the year and approved the short term incentives (STI) for the investment team and the CFO
for the 2017/2018 financial year based on the CEO’s proposal and assessment of his team. The CEO’s STI was approved by the Remuneration
Committee at a subsequent meeting.

Events after the reporting date
Apart from the subsequent events noted above under the Investment review, there have been no other significant events after the reporting
date, being 28 February 2019, to the date of approval of the financial statements, namely 30 August 2019.

Auditors
Deloitte & Touche was re-appointed in office in accordance with the Companies Act, on 6 September 2018.
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Statement of financial position
AT 28 FEBRUARY 2019

Notes

2019

2018

Intangible assets

3

7,540

13,472

Property, plant and equipment

2

466,155

556,496

Unlisted investments at fair value

4

53,913,477

-

54,387,172

569,968

R
Assets
Non-current assets

Total non-current assets
Current assets
Trade and other receivables

5

176,592

177,271

Other assets

6

2,526,138

51,540

Cash and cash equivalents

7

442,096,181

124,821,573

Total current assets

444,798,911

125,050,384

Total assets

499,186,083

125,620,352

537,600,000

139,700,000

Accumulated losses

(48,158,178)

(24,842,385)

Total equity

489,441,822

114,857,615

23,503

63,699

23,503

63,699

Equity
Capital and reserves
Share capital

8

Liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Other liabilities

9

Total non-current liabilities
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables

10

3,046,370

1,162,477

Provisions

11

6,634,192

9,496,475

Other liabilities

9

40,196

40,086

Total current liabilities

9,720,758

10,699,038

Total liabilities

9,744,261

10,762,737

499,186,083

125,620,352

Total equity and liabilities
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Statement of comprehensive income
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 28 FEBRUARY 2019

2019

2018

Investment income

11,958,974

6,591,951

Net fair value gains

389,565

-

18,806

6,840

(35,683,138)

(31,402,218)

(23,315,793)

(24,803,427)

-

-

Net loss for the year

(23,315,793)

(24,803,427)

Total comprehensive loss for the year

(23,315,793)

(24,803,427)

R

Notes

Other income
Operating expenses

12

Operating loss
Taxation
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Statement of changes in equity
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 28 FEBRUARY 2019

Share capital

Accumulated loss

Total

Balance at 1 March 2017

78,200,000

(38,958)

78,161,042

Share capital issue

61,500,000

-

61,500,000

-

(24,803,427)

(24,803,427)

Balance at 28 February 2018

139,700,000

(24,842,385)

114,857,615

Balance at 1 March 2018

139,700,000

(24,842,385)

114,857,615

Share capital issue

397,900,000

-

397,900,000

-

(23,315,793)

(23,315,793)

537,600,000

(48,158,178)

489,441,822

R

Total comprehensive loss for the period

Total comprehensive loss for the period
Balance at 28 February 2019
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Statement of cash flows
FOR YEAR ENDED 28 FEBRUARY 2019

Notes

2019

2018

15.1

(38,977,260)

(20,813,875)

10,716,694

6,591,951

-

-

(28,260,566)

(14,221,924)

-

(17,796)

(83,193)

(637,181)

(54,264,336)

-

-

3,555

740,423

-

49,326

-

1,192,954

-

(52,364,826)

(651,422)

397,900,000

61,500,000

Net cash inflow from financing activities

397,900,000

61,500,000

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents

317,274,608

46,626,654

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year

124,821,573

78,194,920

Total cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year

442,096,181

124,821,573

R
Cash flow from operating activities
Cash utilised in operations
Interest income
Tax paid
Net cash outflow from operating activities

Cash flow from investing activities
Payments to acquire intangible assets
Payments to acquire property, plant and equipment
Payments to acquire unlisted investments
Proceeds on disposal of property, plant and equipment
Proceeds on realisation of unlisted investments
Interest received from unlisted investments
Dividends received from unlisted investments
Net cash outflow from investing activities

Cash flow from financing activities
Proceeds from the issue of shares
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8

Accounting policies
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 28 FEBRUARY 2019

Summary of significant accounting
policies
The SA SME Fund is an investment company. The principal
accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial
statements are set out below.

1. Basis of presentation
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS),
as well as the South African Companies Act 71 of 2008 as
amended. They have been prepared in accordance with the
going concern principle using the historical cost basis except
where otherwise stated in the accounting policies below.

2. Significant judgements and sources of
estimation uncertainty
The preparation of the annual financial statements requires
management from time to time to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions that affect the application of
policies and reported amounts presented in the annual
financial statements and related disclosures. These estimates
and associated assumptions are based on experience and
various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under
the circumstances. Actual results in the future could differ
from these estimates which may be material to the financial
statements. The key judgments and sources of estimation
uncertainty are:
2.1 Assessment as investment entity
Entities that meet the definition of an investment entity
per IFRS 10: Consolidated Financial Statements (“IFRS 10”)
are required to account for most investments in controlled
entities, as well as investments in associates and joint
ventures, at fair value through profit or loss. Subsidiaries that
provide investment-related services or engage in permitted
investment-related activities with investees are consolidated
unless they are also investment entities. The criteria that
define an investment entity are currently as follows:
•

•

•

An entity that obtains funds from one or more investors
for the purpose of providing those investors with
investment services;
An entity commits to its investors that its business
purpose is to invest funds solely for returns from capital
appreciation, investment income or both; and
An entity that measures and evaluates the performance
of substantially all of its investments on a fair value basis.

The company’s stated intention is to invest, via investment
intermediaries, in high potential, scale-able small and medium
sized entities, and to grow these investee companies. The
company’s investments are measured at fair value and
will be managed on this basis going forward. In addition,
substantially all of the company’s investments will be by way
of commitments to investment partnerships with limited
lives. Each partnership or investment intermediary will assess
their exit strategy for investments at the time of investment.
The company meets the additional characteristics of an
investment entity, in that it has more than one investment;
the investments are predominantly in the form of equities
and similar securities; it has more than one investor; and its
investors are not related parties. The company has therefore
been assessed to be an investment entity.
2.2 Fair value measurement of investments
The basis of valuation of all investments is fair value. All
investments are valued in accordance with IFRS and the
International Private Equity and Venture Capital (“IPEV”)
Valuation Guidelines.
The company’s investments comprise drawn commitments
into Funds and direct investments in Section 12J Venture
Capital companies (“VCCs”), which in turn invest in portfolio
companies in which the company has an indirect interest.
The General Partners and Advisors to these Funds and VCCs
provide Net Asset Value statements that the company uses
to determine the fair value of a Fund or VCC.

3. Functional and presentation currency
These annual financial statements are presented in South
African Rands, which is the company’s functional currency
and presentation currency.

4. Property, plant and equipment
Fixtures, furniture and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation. Depreciation is recognised so
as to write off the cost or valuation of the assets less their
residual values over their useful lives, using the straight-line
method on the following bases:
Leasehold improvements:
Furniture and fittings:
Office equipment:
Computer equipment:

33.33% per annum
20.00% per annum
20.00% per annum
33.33% per annum
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The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation
method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period,
with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on
a prospective basis.
An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected
to arise from the continued use of the asset. The gain or loss
arising on the disposal or retirement of an asset is determined
as the difference between the sale proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

5. Intangible assets acquired separately
Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are acquired
separately are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation.
Amortisation is recognised on a straight-line basis over the
estimated useful lives of the intangible assets using the
straight-line method on the following bases:
Computer software:

33.33% per annum

The estimated useful lives and amortisation method are
reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the
effect of any changes in estimate being accounted for on a
prospective basis.
Intangible assets are derecognised upon disposal or when
no future economic benefits are expected to arise from
the continued use of the asset. The gain or loss arising on
the disposal or retirement of an asset is determined as the
difference between the sale proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

6. Financial instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the
company’s statement of financial position when the company
becomes party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.
Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured
at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable
to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial
liabilities (other than financial assets and financial liabilities at
fair value through profit or loss) are added to or deducted from
the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as
appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly
attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are recognised
immediately in profit or loss.
6.1 Financial assets
All recognised financial assets are measured subsequently
in their entirety at either amortised cost or fair value,
depending on the classification of the financial assets.
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Classification of financial assets
Debt instruments that meet the following conditions are
measured subsequently at amortised cost:
• The financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is to hold financial assets in order to
collect contractual cash flows; and
• The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on
specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal outstanding.
Debt instruments that meet the following conditions
are measured subsequently at fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”):
• The financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is achieved by both collecting contractual cash
flows and selling the financial assets; and
• The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on
specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.
By default, all other financial assets are measured
subsequently at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”).
Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at the
end of each reporting period, with any fair value gains or
losses recognised in profit or loss.
Impairment of financial assets
The company recognises a loss allowance for expected credit
losses on investments in debt instruments that are measured
at amortised cost, trade receivables and financial guarantee
contracts. The amount of the expected credit losses is updated
at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since
initial recognition of the respective financial instrument.
The company always recognises lifetime expected credit
losses (“ECL”) for trade receivables. The ECL on these
financial assets are estimated based on the company’s
historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that
are specific to the debtors, general economic conditions and
an assessment of both the current as well as the forecast
direction of conditions at the reporting date, including time
value of money where appropriate.
For all other financial instruments, the company recognises
lifetime ECL when there has been a significant increase in
credit risk since initial recognition. However, if the credit risk
on the financial instrument has not increased significantly
since initial recognition, the company measures the loss
allowance for that financial instrument at an amount equal
to 12-month ECL.
Lifetime ECL represents the expected credit losses that will
result from all possible default events over the expected
life of a financial instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL
represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to
result from default events on a financial instrument that are
possible within 12 months after the reporting date.

Credit-impaired financial assets
A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events
that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash
flows of that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a
financial asset is credit-impaired includes observable data
about the following events:
a. significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the borrower;
b. a breach of contract, such as a default or past due event;
c. the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual
reasons relating to the borrower’s financial difficulty,
having granted to the borrower a concession(s) that the
lender(s) would not otherwise consider;
d. it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or
e. the disappearance of an active market for that financial
asset because of financial difficulties.
Write-off policy
The company writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the debtor is in severe financial
difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of recovery, e.g.
when the debtor has been placed under liquidation or has
entered into bankruptcy proceedings, or in the case of
trade receivables, when the amounts are over two years
past due, whichever occurs sooner. Financial assets written
off may still be subject to enforcement activities under
the company’s recovery procedures, taking into account
legal advice where appropriate. Any recoveries made are
recognised in profit or loss.
Measurement and recognition of expected credit losses
The measurement of expected credit losses is a function
of the probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the
magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and the exposure at
default. The assessment of the probability of default and loss
given default is based on historical data, adjusted by forwardlooking information. For financial assets, the exposure at
default is represented by the assets’ gross carrying amount
at the reporting date; for financial guarantee contracts, the
exposure includes the amount drawn down as at the reporting
date, together with any additional amounts expected to
be drawn down in the future by default date determined
based on historical trend, the company’s understanding of
the specific future financing needs of the debtors, and other
relevant forward-looking information.
For financial assets, the expected credit loss is estimated
as the difference between all contractual cash flows that
are due to the company in accordance with the contract
and all the cash flows that the company expects to receive,
discounted at the original effective interest rate.
The company recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit or
loss for all financial instruments with a corresponding adjustment
to their carrying amount through a loss allowance account.

Derecognition of financial assets
The company derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or
when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity.
If the company neither transfers nor retains substantially all
the risks and rewards of ownership and continues to control
the transferred asset, the company recognises its retained
interest in the asset and an associated liability for amounts
it may have to pay. If the company retains substantially all
the risks and rewards of ownership of a transferred financial
asset, the company continues to recognise the financial
asset and also recognises a collateralised borrowing for the
proceeds received.
On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised
cost, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount
and the sum of the consideration received and receivable is
recognised in profit or loss.
6.2 Financial liabilities
All financial liabilities are measured subsequently at
amortised cost using the effective interest rate method or
at FVTPL.
Financial liabilities at FVTPL
Financial liabilities are classified as at FVTPL when the
financial liability is (i) contingent consideration of an
acquirer in a business combination, (ii) held for trading, or
(iii) it is designated as at FVTPL.
A financial liability is classified as held for trading if:
• It has been acquired principally for the purpose of
repurchasing it in the near term; or
• On initial recognition it is part of a portfolio of identified
financial instruments that the company manages
together and has a recent actual pattern of short-term
profit-taking; or
• It is a derivative, except for a derivative that is a
financial guarantee contract or a designated and
effective hedging instrument.
A financial liability other than a financial liability held for
trading or contingent consideration of an acquirer in a
business combination may be designated as at FVTPL upon
initial recognition if:
• Such designation eliminates or significantly reduces a
measurement or recognition inconsistency that would
otherwise arise; or
• A financial liability forms part of a group of financial
assets or financial liabilities or both, which is managed
and its performance is evaluated on a fair value basis,
in accordance with the company’s documented risk
management or investment strategy, and information
about the grouping is provided internally on that basis; or
• It forms part of a contract containing one or more
embedded derivatives, and IFRS 9 permits the entire
combined contract to be designated as at FVTPL.
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Financial liabilities at FVTPL are measured at fair value, with
any gains or losses arising on changes in fair value recognised in
profit or loss. However, for financial liabilities that are designated
as at FVTPL, the amount of change in the fair value of the
financial liability that is attributable to changes in the credit risk
of that liability is recognised in other comprehensive income,
unless such treatment would create or enlarge an accounting
mismatch in profit or loss. Changes in fair value attributable
to a financial liability’s credit risk that are recognised in other
comprehensive income are not subsequently reclassified to
profit or loss; instead, they are transferred to retained earnings
upon derecognition of the financial liability.
Gains or losses on financial guarantee contracts issued
by the company that are designated by the company as at
FVTPL are recognised in profit or loss.
Financial liabilities measured subsequently at amortised cost
Financial liabilities that are (i) not contingent consideration
of an acquirer in a business combination, (ii) held for trading,
or (iii) designated as at FVTPL, are measured subsequently
at amortised cost using the effective interest method.
The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating
interest expense over the relevant period. The effective
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated
future cash payments (including all fees and points paid or
received that form an integral part of the effective interest
rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts)
through the expected life of the financial liability, or (where
appropriate) a shorter period, to the amortised cost of a
financial liability.

7. Impairment of assets
7.1 Financial assets carried at amortised cost
The company recognises a loss allowance for expected
credit losses on investments in debt instruments that are
measured at amortised cost or at FVTOCI and financial
guarantee contracts. The amount of expected credit losses
(“ECL”) is updated at each reporting date to reflect changes
in credit risk since initial recognition of the respective
financial instrument.
The company recognises lifetime ECL when there has been
a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition.
However, if the credit risk on the financial instrument has
not increased significantly since initial recognition, the
company measures the loss allowance for that financial
instrument at an amount equal to 12-month ECL.
Lifetime ECL represents the expected credit losses that will
result from all possible default events over the expected
life of a financial instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL
represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to
result from default events on a financial instrument that are
possible within 12 months after the reporting date.

8. Taxation
In terms of the South African Income Tax Act, the revenue
of the company is considered to be passive income and the
company therefore does not generate tax losses that may be
utilised at a future date. As a result, the company has neither
a tax expense, nor the ability to raise a deferred tax asset in
respect of assessed losses.

9. Cash and cash equivalents
Derecognition of financial liabilities
The company derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the company’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or
have expired. The difference between the carrying amount of
the financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid
and payable is recognised in profit or loss.
When the company exchanges with the existing lender
one debt instrument into another one with substantially
different terms, such exchange is accounted for as an
extinguishment of the original financial liability and the
recognition of a new financial liability. Similarly, the company
accounts for substantial modification of terms of an existing
liability or part of it as an extinguishment of the original
financial liability and the recognition of a new liability. If the
modification is not substantial, the difference between (1)
the carrying amount of the liability before the modification;
and (2) the present value of the cash flows after modification
should be recognised in profit or loss as the modification
gain or loss within other gains and losses.
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Cash and cash equivalents comprise:
•
•
•

Cash on hand.
Deposits held at call and short notice.
Balances with banks.

Cash and cash equivalents have a maturity of less than
three months from the date of acquisition. Cash and cash
equivalents are carried at cost, which due to their shortterm nature approximates fair value.
Due to the highly liquid nature of the cash and cash
equivalents, the credit quality of the counterparties and the
fact that the company has never experienced a credit loss,
the ECL on cash and cash equivalents is negligible.

10. Share capital
Shares are classified as equity when there is no obligation to
transfer cash or assets.  

11. Employee benefits
The SA SME Fund has established a defined contribution
retirement fund for its employees.

15. New standards and amendments to published
standards not yet effective
15.1 New and amended IFRS standards that are effective
for the current year

11.1 Leave Pay
The SA SME Fund accrues in full the employees’ rights to
annual leave entitlement in respect of past service. This is
expensed over the period the services are rendered.  

15.1.1 Impact of initial application of IFRS 9:
Financial instruments
In the current year, the company has applied IFRS 9: Financial
Instruments (“IFRS 9”) (as revised in July 2014) and the
related consequential amendments to other IFRS standards
that are effective for an annual period that begins on or after
1 January 2018. The transition provisions of IFRS 9 allow
an entity not to restate comparatives. The company did
not have any investments held at fair value in the previous
financial period and has not restated any comparatives.

12. Provisions
Provisions are recognised when, as a result of past events,
The SA SME Fund has a present legal or constructive
obligation of uncertain timing or amount, and it is probable
that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits
will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable
estimate of the amount of the obligation can be made.

Additionally, the company adopted consequential
amendments to IFRS 7: Financial Instruments – Disclosures
(“IFRS 7”) that have been applied to the disclosures for 2019.

Provisions are measured as the present value of
management’s best estimate of the expenditure required
to settle the obligation at the reporting date. The pre-tax
discount rate used to determine the present value reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money.  

IFRS 9 introduced new requirements for:
1. The classification and measurement of financial assets
and financial liabilities;
2. Impairment of financial assets; and
3. General hedge accounting.

Future events that may affect the amount required to settle
an obligation are only taken into account in determining the
amount of a provision where there is sufficient evidence that
they will occur.

Details of these new requirements as well as their impact on
the company’s financial statements are described below.

The SA SME Fund recognises a provision for an onerous
contract when the expected benefits to be derived from a
contract are lower than the unavoidable costs of meeting
the obligations under the contract.

(a) Classification and measurement of financial assets
The date of initial application (i.e. the date on which the
company has assessed its existing financial assets and
financial liabilities in terms of the requirements of IFRS
9) is 1 March 2018. Accordingly, the company has applied
the requirements of IFRS 9 to instruments that continue
to be recognised at 1 March 2018 and has not applied
the requirements to instruments that have already been
derecognised as at 1 March 2018.

13. Trade and other payables
Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or services that
have been acquired in the ordinary course of business from
suppliers. Trade payable are classified as current liabilities if
payment is due within one year or less from the reporting date.
If not, they are presented as non-current liabilities.

All recognised financial assets that are within the scope
of IFRS 9 are required to be measured subsequently at
amortised cost or fair value on the basis of the entity’s
business model for managing the financial assets and the
contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial assets.

Trade payables are recognised initially at fair value and
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method.

14. Income
14.1 Interest income
Interest income comprises amounts that The SA SME Fund
earns from bank deposits. Interest income is accounted for on
an accrual basis in the accounting period in which it is earned.

Specifically:
Debt instruments that are held within a business model
whose objective is to collect the contractual cash flows,
and that have contractual cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest on the principal
amount outstanding, are measured at amortised cost.
• Debt instruments that are held within a business model
whose objective is both to collect the contractual
cash flows and to sell the debt instruments, and that
have contractual cash flows that are solely payments
of principal and interest on the principal amount
outstanding, are measured subsequently at fair value
through other comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”).

•

23

•

All other debt investments and equity investments are
measured subsequently at fair value through profit or
loss (“FVTPL”).

Despite the above, the company may make the following
irrevocable election / designation at initial recognition of a
financial asset:
• The company may irrevocably designate a debt
investment that meets the amortised cost or FVTOCI
criteria as measured at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or
significantly reduces an accounting mismatch.
In the current year, the company has not designated any
debt instruments that meet the amortised cost or FVTOCI
criteria as measured at FVTPL.
Debt instruments that are measured subsequently at
amortised cost or FVTOCI are subject to impairment.
The application of IFRS 9 has had no impact on the classification
and measurement of the company’s financial assets.
(b) Impairment of financial assets
In relation to the impairment of financial assets, IFRS 9
requires an expected credit loss model as opposed to
an incurred credit loss model under IAS 39: Financial
Instruments – Recognition and Measurement (“IAS 39”). The
expected credit loss model requires the company to account
for expected credit losses and changes in those expected
credit losses at each reporting date to reflect changes in
credit risk since initial recognition of the financial assets. In
other words it is no longer necessary for a credit event to
have occurred before credit losses are recognised.  
Specifically, IFRS 9 requires the company to recognise a loss
allowances for expected credit losses on:
1. Debt investments measured subsequently at amortised
cost or at FVTOCI;
2. Lease receivables;
3. Trade receivables and contract assets; and
4. Financial guarantee contracts to which the impairment
requirements of IFRS 9 apply.
In particular, IFRS 9 requires the company to measure the loss
allowance for a financial instrument at an amount equal to the
lifetime expected credit losses (“ECL”) if the credit risk on that
financial instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition, or if the financial instrument is a purchased or
originated credit-impaired financial asset. However, if the credit
risk on a financial instrument has not increased significantly
since initial recognition (except for a purchased or originated
credit-impaired financial asset), the company is required to
measure the loss allowance for that financial instrument at
an amount equal to 12-months ECL. IFRS 9 also requires a
simplified approach for measuring the loss allowance at an
amount equal to lifetime ECL for trade receivables, contract
assets and lease receivables in certain circumstances.
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(c) Classification and measurement of financial liabilities
A significant change introduced by IFRS 9 in the classification
and measurement of financial liabilities relates to the
accounting for changes in the fair value of a financial liability
designated as at FVTPL attributable to changes in the credit
risk of the issuer.
Specifically, IFRS 9 requires that the changes in the fair
value of the financial liability that is attributable to changes
in the credit risk of that liability be presented in other
comprehensive income, unless the recognition of the effects
of changes in the liability’s credit risk in other comprehensive
income would create or enlarge an accounting mismatch in
profit or loss. Changes in fair value attributable to a financial
liability’s credit risk are not subsequently reclassified
to profit or loss, but are instead transferred to retained
earnings when the financial liability is derecognised.
Previously, under IAS 39, the entire amount of the change in
the fair value of the financial liability designated as at FVTPL
was presented in profit or loss.
The application of IFRS 9 has had no impact on the classification
and measurement of the company’s financial liabilities.
(e) Disclosures in relation to the initial application of IFRS 9
There were no financial assets or financial liabilities which
the company had previously designated as at FVTPL under
IAS 39 that were subject to reclassification or which the
company has elected to reclassify upon the application of
IFRS 9. There were no financial assets or financial liabilities
which the company has elected to designate as at FVTPL at
the date of the initial application of IFRS 9.
The application of IFRS 9 has had no impact on the cash
flows of the company.
15.1.2 Impact of application of other IFRS standards
In the current year, the company has applied a number
of amendments to IFRS standards and interpretations
issued by the International Accounting Standards Board
(“IASB”) that are effective for an annual period that begins
on or after 1 January 2018. Their adoption has not had
any material impact on the disclosures or on the amounts
reported in these financial statements.

IFRS 15:
Revenue from
Contracts
with
Customers

In the current year the company
has applied IFRS 15: Revenue from
Contracts with Customers (“IFRS 15”)
(as amended in April 2016) which
is effective for an annual period
that begins on or after 1 January
2018. IFRS 15 introduced a five step
approach to revenue recognition. Far
more prescriptive guidance has been
added in IFRS 15 to deal with specific
scenarios. The application of IFRS 15
has not had a significant impact on
the financial position and/or financial
performance of the company.

15.2 New and revised IFRS standards in issue but
not yet effective
At the date of authorisation of these financial statements, the
company has not applied the following new and revised IFRS
standards that have been issued but are not yet effective.

IFRS 16

Leases

IFRS 17

Insurance Contracts

IFRS 16 sets out the principles for the
recognition, measurement, presentation
and disclosure for both parties to a
lease contract and requires the lessee
to recognise all lease contracts in the
statement of financial position, apart
from certain short-term leases and
leases of low value assets.

Amendments
to IFRS 9

Prepayment Features with Negative
Compensation

Amendments
to IAS 28

Long-term Interests in Associates
and Joint Ventures

Annual
improvements
to IFRS
Standards
2015-2017
Cycle

Amendments to IFRS 3: Business
Combinations, IFRS 11: Joint
Arrangements, IAS 12: Income Taxes
and IAS 23: Borrowing Costs

Amendments
to IAS 19

Employee Benefits – Plan Amendment,
Curtailment or Settlement

IFRS 10
and IAS 28
(amendments)

Consolidated Financial Statements
– Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its Associate
or Joint Venture

IFRIC 23

Uncertainty over Income Tax
Treatments

IFRS 16 will change how the company
accounts for leases previously classified
as operating leases under IAS 17: Leases
(“IAS 17”), which were all off-balance
sheet. On initial application of IFRS 16,
the company will:
a) Recognise right of use assets and lease
liabilities in the statement of financial
position, initially measured at the
present value of future lease payments.
b) Recognise depreciation of right of use
assets and interest on lease liabilities in
the statement of profit or loss.
c) Separate the total amount of cash
paid into a principal portion (presented
in financing activities) and interest
(presented within operating activities) in
the cash flow statement.

Apart from the impact of IFRS 16 described above, the
directors do not expect that the adoption of the standards
listed above will have any impact on the financial statements
of the company in future periods.

Lease incentives will be recognised as
part of the measurement of the right-ofuse assets and lease liabilities whereas
under IAS 17 they resulted in the
recognition of a lease liability incentive,
amortised as a reduction of rental
expenses on a straight line basis.
The directors are in the process of
assessing the impact that IFRS 16 will have
on the financial results of the company,
but it is not expected to be material.
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Notes to the financial
statements
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 28 FEBRUARY 2019

1. Management of financial risk
The company’s activities expose it to a variety of financial
risks. Financial risks include market risk, credit risk and
liquidity risk.

Currency risk
All financial assets and liabilities are denominated in South
African Rand and the company is not exposed to currency risk.

1.1 Market risk
Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows
of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes
in market prices and investment return. Market risk that
could impact on future cash flows and hence the value of a
financial instrument arises from:
• Interest rate risk: The risk that the fair value or future
cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate
because of changes in market interest rates.
• Currency risk: The risk that the fair value or future cash
flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of
changes in foreign exchange rates.
• Equity price risk: The impact of changes in equity prices
and dividend income.

Equity price risk
As at 28 February 2019, the company holds equity shares in
KNF Ventures (RF) Proprietary Limited, a Section 12J Venture
Capital Company. In addition, the company is indirectly
exposed to equity price risk through the valuation of the
underlying portfolio investments held by its investments in
Funds. The analysis below details the company’s sensitivity
to a 1% increase and decrease in the fair value of the unlisted
investments held at 28 February 2019 based on fluctuations

Interest rate risk
The SA SME Fund’s financial assets are interest bearing,
while its financial liabilities are non-interest bearing. The SA
SME Fund is exposed to interest rate risks on funds invested
and interest bearing bank deposits.
At 28 February 2019 the company’s total exposure to
interest rate risk was as follows:

Cash and cash
equivalents

2019

2018

R

R

442,096,181

124,821,573

in the price of its unlisted investments.

2019
Change in equity
prices assumed:

2018

+1%

539,135

+1%

-

-1%

(539,135)

-1%

-

1.2 Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty to a financial
instrument will cause a financial loss for the company by
failing to discharge an obligation.
The main concentration of credit risk to which the company
is exposed arises from the company’s cash and cash
equivalents. The company’s cash is deposited only with
major banks of high quality credit standing.
The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date
was as follows:

The analysis below details the company’s sensitivity to a 1%
increase and decrease in the interest rate earned on its cash
and cash equivalents and the effect on income for the period.

2019
Rate variance:
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2018

+1%

4,420,962

+1%

1,248,216

-1%

(4,420,962)

-1%

(1,248,216)

Trade and other
receivables
Cash and cash
equivalents

2019

2018

R

R

176,592

177,271

442,096,181

124,821,573

442,272,773

124,998,844

1.3 Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the company will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated with financial liabilities due to
insufficient cash being available to meet commitments as and when they become due.
The SA SME Fund currently has sufficient cash resources available to meet its obligations.
The table below analyses The SA SME Fund’s financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining period at the
reporting date to the contractual maturity date.

< 1 year

1-5 years

5-10 years

Total

Trade and other payables

3,046,370

-

-

3,046,370

Provisions

6,634,192

-

-

6,634,192

Total

9,680,562

-

-

9,680,562

Trade and other payables

1,162,477

-

-

1,162,477

Provisions

9,496,475

-

-

9,496,475

10,658,952

-

-

10,658,952

R
2019

2018

Total

1.4 Valuation risk
The company’s exposure to valuation risk arises from movements in the values of its unquoted investments into Funds, whose valuations
in turn are derived from the valuations of portfolio companies in which they invest.
Financial assets and liabilities carried at fair value need to be classified within the appropriate level of hierarchy on which their fair values are
based. The information below sets out the different levels as well as the classification of the company’s assets and liabilities where appropriate.
Investments trading in active markets and deriving their fair value from quoted market prices of identical assets are classified within
Level 1. These prices provide the most reliable fair value classification and the company does not need to adjust the quoted prices to
measure the fair value of investments. The quoted market price used for investments held by the company is the current bid price.
Investments trading in markets not considered to be active and deriving their fair value from observable inputs other than quoted
prices included within Level 1 are classified within Level 2. These inputs need to be directly or indirectly observable for the investment
and can include: quoted market prices for similar assets in active or non-active markets; observable inputs other than quoted prices;
and inputs derived or corroborated by observable market data.
Level 3 classification applies to investments where observable inputs are not available for the asset to determine its fair value.
Unobservable inputs are used to measure fair value where relevant observable inputs are not available. The unlisted investments in
Fund Limited Partnerships and relevant Section 12J Venture Capital Companies are classified within this level.
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R

Level 1

Level 2

Level 3

Total

Unlisted investments

-

-

53,913,477

53,913,477

Balance at 28 February 2019

-

-

53,913,477

53,913,477

Unlisted investments

-

-

-

-

Balance at 28 February 2018

-

-

-

-

2019

2018

The following table presents the movement in Level 3 assets during the year by class of financial instrument:

Unlisted investments

R
2019

2018

-

-

Acquisitions

54,264,336

-

Realisations

(740,424)

-

389,565

-

53,913,477

-

Non-current assets
Opening balance

Net gains included in the Statement of comprehensive income
Balance at 28 February
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2. Property, plant and equipment
Leasehold
improve-ments

Furniture and
fittings

Office equipment

Computer
equipment

Total

-

-

-

-

-

Additions

207,130

291,905

26,358

111,788

637,181

Disposals

-

-

-

(3,999)

(3,999)

Balance at 28 February 2018

207,130

291,905

26,358

107,789

633,182

Balance at 1 March 2018

207,130

291,905

26,358

107,789

633,182

Additions

-

25,165

21,032

36,996

83,193

Disposals

-

-

-

-

-

207,130

317,070

47,390

144,785

716,375

-

-

-

-

-

28,768

23,432

1,793

23,137

77,130

-

-

-

(444)

(444)

Balance at 28 February 2018

28,768

23,432

1,793

22,693

76,686

Balance at 1 March 2018

28,768

23,432

1,793

22,693

76,686

Depreciation

69,043

59,220

8,203

37,068

173,534

-

-

-

-

-

97,811

82,652

9,996

59,761

250,220

At 28 February 2019

109,319

234,418

37,394

85,024

466,155

At 28 February 2018

178,362

268,473

24,565

85,096

556,496

-

-

-

-

-

R
Cost
Balance at 1 March 2017

Balance at 28 February 2019

Accumulated depreciation
Balance at 1 March 2017
Depreciation
Disposals

Disposals
Balance at 28 February 2019

Carrying amounts

At 1 March 2017
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3. Intangible assets
R

Computer software

Total

-

-

Additions

17,796

17,796

Disposals

-

-

Balance at 28 February 2018

17,796

17,796

Balance at 1 March 2018

17,796

17,796

Additions

-

-

Disposals

-

-

17,796

17,796

-

-

4,324

4,324

-

-

Balance at 28 February 2018

4,324

4,324

Balance at 1 March 2018

4,324

4,324

Amortisation

5,932

5,932

-

-

10,256

10,256

At 28 February 2019

7,540

7,540

At 28 February 2018

13,472

13,472

-

-

Cost
Balance at 1 March 2017

Balance at 28 February 2019

Accumulated amortisation
Balance at 1 March 2017
Amortisation
Disposals

Disposals
Balance at 28 February 2019

Carrying amounts

At 1 March 2017
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4. Unlisted investments at fair value
The company obtains exposure to and has indirect investments in a diversified pool of unquoted investments (“portfolio companies”)
by investing in Fund Limited Partnerships (“Funds”) and Section 12J Venture Capital Companies. As at 28 February 2019, the company
had the following investments:

% of fund

2019

2018

R

R

Unlisted investment in PAPE Fund 3

20.00%

34,107,145

-

Unlisted investment in KNF Ventures (RF) (Pty) Limited

12.62%

19,806,332

-

53,913,477

-

54,264,336

-

(740,424)

-

389,565

-

53,913,477

-

Consisting of:
Cost
Realisations
Unrealised capital revaluation movement at the end of the year

The principal place of business of the above investments is South Africa. The company does not exercise control over the entities.
PAPE Fund 3 is an en commandite partnership where the investments are of a long-term nature as an equity participant ultimately to
derive dividends and capital appreciation.
KNF Ventures is a Section 12J Venture Capital Company focused on innovation-driven ventures with proven traction.
The fair value of the unlisted investments was determined with reference to the net asset value of the portfolio companies,
which measure their assets and liabilities at fair value.

5. Trade and other receivables

Deposits
Other receivables

2019

2018

R

R

173,592

173,592

3,000

3,679

176,592

177,271

The fair value approximates the carrying value of the trade and other receivables, due to the short term nature thereof. All trade and
other receivables are current. Due to the short term nature of the trade and other receivables, the credit quality of the counterparties
and the fact that the company has never experienced a credit loss, the ECL on trade and other receivables is negligible.
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6. Other assets
2019

2018

R

R

2,473,460

-

52,678

51,540

2,526,138

51,540

Other assets comprise:
Prepaid management fees
Other prepayments

7. Cash and cash equivalents

Bank and cash balances

2019

2018

R

R

442,096,181

124,821,573

Ave interest
rate

Cash at bank and short term deposits

Ave interest
rate

First National Bank

6.37%

206,096,629

6.67%

3,893,288

Nedbank

7.98%

203,711,460

7.73%

90,910,566

Rand Merchant Bank 32 day notice index deposit

7.57%

32,281,914

7.56%

30,011,897

Rand Merchant Bank call deposit

6.09%

6,178

6.35%

5,814

442,096,181

124,821,565

8. Share capital
2019

2018

Number of shares

Number of shares

3,000,000,000

3,000,000,000

Authorised
Ordinary no par value shares

Issued

Ordinary no par value shares
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2019

2018

2019

2018

R

R

Number of shares

Number of shares

537,600,000

139,700,000

537,600,000

139,700,000

Reconciliation of shares issued

Number of shares

R

-

-

Issue of shares

78,200,000

78,200,000

Balance at 28 February 2017

78,200,000

78,200,000

Issue of shares

61,500,000

61,500,000

Balance at 28 February 2018

139,700,000

139,700,000

Issue of shares

397,900,000

397,900,000

Balance at 28 February 2019

537,600,000

537,600,000

Balance at 1 March 2016

During the year ended 28 February 2019 the company increased its share capital and issued 397,900,000 (2018: 61,500,000) new shares at
a price of R1.00 per share.

9. Other liabilities
2019

2018

R

R

Lease incentives recognised in terms of operating lease rentals

63,699

103,785

Current

40,196

40,086

Non-current

23,503

63,699

63,699

103,785

2019

2018

R

R

Trade payables

1,183,031

7,530

Accruals

1,346,639

783,770

516,700

371,177

3,046,370

1,162,477

10. Trade and other payables

Other payables

Trade and other payables are non-interest bearing and are settled on average 30 days from statement. The fair value approximates the
carrying value of the trade and other payables, due to the short term nature thereof.
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11. Provisions
2019

2018

R

R

6,634,192

9,496,475

6,634,192

9,496,475

6,634,192

9,496,475

-

-

6,634,192

9,496,475

Balance at the beginning of the year

9,496,475

29,875

Additional provision in the year

6,634,192

9,496,475

(9,496,475)

(29,875)

6,634,192

9,496,475

Employee benefits

Current
Non-current

Movement in provisions:

Utilisation of the provision
Balance at the end of the year

The provision for employee benefits represents annual leave and accrued performance incentives in terms of employees’ contracts of
employment and as noted in the Directors’ report.
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12. Operating expenses
2019

2018

R

R

5,932

4,324

69,000

4,226,239

173,534

77,130

3,647,340

2,655,435

-

1,021

4,244,621

-

299,099

287,443

Investment Committee fees

1,166,666

437,500

Investment-related costs

1,335,287

375,323

Legal fees

1,766,583

1,196,082

76,841

24,691

765,953

546,365

-

1,117,200

21,284,826

19,683,111

847,456

770,354

35,683,138

31,402,218

Operating expenses comprise:
Amortisation of intangible assets
Consulting fees
Depreciation
Ecosystem development costs
Foreign exchange loss
Fund management, advisory and service fees
Insurance

Operating lease rentals – office equipment (Note 16)
Operating lease rentals – office premises (Note 16)
Recruitment fees
Salaries, wages and short term incentives, including directors’ emoluments disclosed
in Note 13
Other operating expenses

13. Directors’ emoluments
2019

2018

R

R

Salary

Short term
incentive

Total

Salary

Short term
incentive

Total

Quinton Dicks

1,775,185

840,000

2,615,185

3,654,094

4,208,334

7,862,428

Ketan Gordhan

2,174,738

1,500,000

3,674,738

-

-

-

3,949,923

2,340,000

6,289,923

3,654,094

4,208,334

7,862,428

Quinton Dicks, the CEO, resigned from the Board with effect from 31 July 2018. Ketan Gordhan was subsequently appointed CEO on
1 September 2018.
The non-executive directors do not receive any remuneration or fees for their services to the company.

35

14. Taxation
2019

2018

R

R

-

-

-

-

%

%

28.0

28.0

(28.0)

(28.0)

0.0

0.0

South African normal taxation
Current tax

Reconciliation of rate of taxation
Standard rate of taxation
Expenditure disallowed
Effective rate of taxation

In terms of the South African Income Tax Act, the revenue of the company is considered to be passive income and the company therefore
does not generate tax losses that may be utilised at a date in the future. As a result, the company has neither a tax expense, nor the
ability to raise a deferred tax asset in respect of assessed losses.

15. Notes to the statement of cash flows
15.1 Cash utilised in operations

Loss before tax

2019

2018

R

R

(23,315,793)

(24,803,427)

173,534

77,130

5,932

4,324

(10,716,694)

(6,591,951)

(1,242,280)

-

(389,565)

-

(2,862,283)

9,466,600

(2,473,918)

(87,126)

1,843,807

1,120,575

(38,977,260)

(20,813,875)

Adjustments for:
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
Amortisation of intangible assets
Interest income
Investment income recognised in the Statement of comprehensive income
Unrealised gains from fair value adjustments
Movement in provisions
Working capital changes:
Increase in trade and other receivables
Increase in trade and other payables
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16. Operating lease rentals
Operating lease rentals relate to the lease of office premises and office equipment with lease terms of three years. The company has the
option to renew the lease for the office premises for a period of two years.

2019

2018

R

R

Operating lease rentals due within one year

941,040

870,836

Operating lease rentals due thereafter

615,408

1,506,262

1,556,448

2,377,098

17. Capital commitments
2019
R

% of fund

Total capital
commitment

Undrawn
capital
commitment

20%

100,000,000

59,796,039

Unlisted investment in SummerPlace Equity Fund 1

99.6%

125,000,000

123,835,617

Unlisted investment in Savant Venture Fund 1

99.5%

100,000,000

98,683,616

325,000,000

282,315,272

Undrawn capital commitments:
Unlisted investment in PAPE Fund 3

As at 28 February 2018, the company had not made any capital commitments.
As at 28 February 2019, the company had committed R100 million to PAPE Fund 3, subject to a maximum exposure of 20% of the total
fund size. The total commitment at 28 February 2019 was R96,517,167.
In addition to the above commitments, the company has committed to providing Savant Venture Fund 1 with an Incubation Facility
totalling R10 million. This facility will be used to provide loans, bearing interest at prime less 1%, to Savant Venture Fund 1 to enable it
to make incubator investments of between R250k and R1.5 million in potential portfolio companies.

18. Contingencies
The company does not have any contingent liabilities at 28 February 2019, nor at the date of this report.
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19. Going concern
The directors have considered the financial position of the company and are of the view that the company remains a going concern.
While the company currently makes operating losses and is expected to do so for the foreseeable future, the company has significant
cash balances and its total assets exceed its total liabilities by R489 million. The directors have reviewed the outstanding commitments
relative to the company’s cash balances and note that the commitments (other than the debt facilities provided) will be drawn down by
the investee funds over a period of three to five years. Furthermore, the directors are confident of the commitment of shareholders.
The company has the ability to draw down on outstanding subscriptions of R859 million as and when required. The fund of funds
business model of the company has also been considered by the directors in their assessment of going concern. This model assumes
that the company will have an investment period of approximately five years during which available funds will be invested in portfolio
funds / companies in the SME sector. It is only after this investment period that the company is expected to generate realised returns
from its investment programme.

20. Subsequent events
20.1 Issue of shares
Subsequent to year end a further R4 million has been received from shareholders subscribing for additional shares in terms of the notice
issued to shareholders in November 2018. This has resulted in 4 million additional shares being allotted and issued after year end.
20.2 Investments subsequent to 28 February 2019
Subsequent to year end, the company has made the following commitments:

Total capital
commitments
R
Commitments to portfolio funds:
4Di Capital Fund III

125,000,000

Total commitments to portfolio funds

125,000,000

Debt facilities provided:
Spartan SME Finance

100,000,000

A2Pay

5,000,000

Custos Media Technologies / CMT Research

3,500,000

Total debt facilities provided

108,500,000

Total commitments subsequent to year end

233,500,000

In addition, the company has invested a further R10 million in KNF Ventures (RF) (Pty) Limited.
Further commitments of R125 million have been approved by the Investment Committee subject to certain conditions precedent being
met. The company is working with the fund managers to complete the outstanding conditions.
Apart from the events described above, there have been no significant events subsequent to the end of the reporting period that would
impact on the figures reported or that would require disclosure in these financial statements.

38

21. Related parties
During the period under review, the company entered into the following transactions with portfolio funds:

2019

2019

2019

2019

2019

2019

R

R

R

R

R

R

Total income

Interest and
dividends
received

Total expenses

Management
and advisory
fees paid

Establishment
costs

Fund operating
expenses

1,242,280

1,242,280

2,524,593

1,417,886

394,390

712,317

SummerPlace Equity
Fund 1

-   

-

376,712

376,712

-

-

Savant Venture Fund 1

-   

-

193,315

193,315

-

-

1,242,280

-

3,094,620

1,987,913

394,390

712,317

PAPE Fund 3

There were no transactions with portfolio funds in the year ended 28 February 2018.
The following amounts were outstanding at the reporting date:

2019

2018

2019

2018

R

R

R

R

Amounts owed from related parties
PAPE Fund 3

Amount owed to related parties

-   

-

278,140

-

-

-

278,140

-
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11 October 2019

Dear Shareholder
The detailed Notice of the Annual General Meeting (“Notice”) and
supporting documentation are attached hereto.   The Notice is
accompanied by explanatory notes setting out the reasons and the
effects of the proposed ordinary and special resolutions in the Notice.
Should you require a full printed version of the Annual Financial
Statements, please contact me on 074 339 9035 and a copy will be
sent to you.
If you are unable to attend the Annual General Meeting, you are able
to vote by proxy in accordance with the instructions in the Notice and
the form of proxy.

Yours sincerely
C Winter
Company Secretary
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Notice of Annual
General Meeting
The SA SME Fund Limited
Incorporated in the Republic of South Africa
Registration number 2016/238385/06
(“the Company”)
Notice is hereby given in terms of section 62(1) of the Companies
Act, No. 71 of 2008 as amended (“the Companies Act”) that the
third Annual General Meeting of the Company (“AGM”) will be
held on Friday, 1 November 2019, at 14h00 at 1 Discovery Place,
Sandton, 2196 to conduct the following business:
1. To consider and, if deemed fit to pass, with or without
modification, the resolutions set out below, and
2. To deal with such other business as may be dealt with at the AGM.

Record date
The record date for shareholders to be registered in the books of
the Company for purposes of being entitled to attend, speak and
vote at the AGM is 11 October 2019.

Proof of identification required
In accordance with the Companies Act, any shareholder or proxy
attending the AGM will need to present reasonable satisfactory
identification.  Forms of identification include a green bar-coded
identification document or identification card issued by the
South African Department of Home Affairs, a driver’s licence or
a valid passport.

Electronic participation in the AGM
All shareholders are entitled to participate at the AGM via electronic
communication, by making use of the following dial-in facility: Dial
in number +27 11 019 7059; Attendee access code  54050683#
Voting on shares will not be possible via electronic communication
and accordingly shareholders participating electronically and
wishing to vote their shares at the AGM will need to be represented
at the AGM, either in person, by proxy or by letter of representation.

Presentation of Annual Financial
Statements
The following documents have been distributed as required and
will be presented to the shareholders at the AGM:
• The audited annual financial statements of the Company for
the year ended 28 February 2019
• Directors’ Report
• Independent Auditors’ Report
• Audit and Risk Committee Chairman’s Report
A complete set of the consolidated audited Annual Financial
Statements, together with the above mentioned reports, are set
out on pages 3 to 39 of the Integrated Report.
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Ordinary Resolutions
1.

Ordinary Resolution number 1 (comprising
Ordinary Resolution numbers 1.1, 1.2 and 1.3)
Re-Election of directors

Additional information in respect of Ordinary
Resolution number 3
In terms of section 90(1) of the Companies Act, each year
at its AGM, the Company must appoint an auditor who
complies with the requirements of section 90(2) of the
Companies Act.  Following a detailed review, which included
an assessment of its independence, the current Audit and
Risk Committee of the Company has recommended that
Deloitte & Touche is re-appointed as the auditors of the
Company until the conclusion of the next AGM.  It is noted
that the individual designated auditor who will undertake
the audit for the year ending 28 February 2020 is Ms
Claudette van der Merwe.

To elect by way of separate resolutions the following nonexecutive directors:
Ordinary resolution number 1.1
“Resolved that Mr A Gore is elected for appointment as a
director of the Company.”
Ordinary resolution number 1.2
“Resolved that Dr NJ Dlamini is elected for appointment as a
director of the Company.”
Ordinary resolution number 1.3
“Resolved that Ms DD Mokgatle is elected for appointment
as a director of the Company.”
Additional information in respect of Ordinary Resolution
numbers 1.1, 1.2 and 1.3
Clause 38.3.1 of the Company’s MOI provides that at least
1/3 (one third) of the Company’s non-executive directors
shall retire at each AGM.  The directors retiring by rotation
at the AGM are Mr A Gore, Dr NJ Dlamini and Ms DD
Mokgatle.  The proposed Ordinary resolutions number 1.1,
1.2 and 1.3 is to appoint, in accordance with the MOI and by
way of a series of votes, each of which is on the candidacy of
a single individual to fill a single vacancy, as required by the
Companies Act, are Mr A Gore, Dr NJ Dlamini and Ms DD
Mokgatle as directors of the Company.

2.

Ordinary resolution number 2
Election of additional director
“Resolved that Dr YG Muthien is elected for appointment as
a director.
The curriculum vitae of Dr YG Muthien is attached as
Annexure A at the end of the Notice, before the proxy form.”
Additional information in respect of Ordinary
Resolution number 3
In terms of the subscription agreement signed with the Public
Investment Corporation SOC Limited, Unemployment
Insurance Fund and Compensation Fund, these entities are
collectively entitled to one seat on the Board of Directors of
the Company. Following the resignation of Dr DM Matjila,
the entities have proposed the appointment of Dr YG
Muthien as their Board representative.

3.

Ordinary Resolution number 3
Re-appointment of External Auditors
“Resolved that Deloitte & Touche is re-appointed as the
independent external auditors of the Company to hold office
until the conclusion of the next AGM.”
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4.

Ordinary resolution number 4 (comprising 		
Ordinary Resolution numbers 4.1, 4.2 and 4.3)
Re-appointment of the members of the Audit
and Risk Committee
To re-appoint, by way of separate resolutions, the following
independent non-executive directors as members of the
Company’s Audit and Risk Committee:
Ordinary Resolution number 4.1
“Resolved that Mr NG Payne is re-appointed as a member of
the Company’s Audit and Risk Committee.”
Ordinary Resolution number 4.2
“Resolved that Ms DD Mokgatle is re-appointed as a member
of the Company’s Audit and Risk Committee, subject to the
approval and passing of Ordinary Resolution number 1.3.”
Ordinary Resolution number 4.3
“Resolved that Ms NJ Dlamini is re-appointed as a member
of the Company’s Audit and Risk Committee, subject to the
approval and passing of Ordinary Resolution number 1.2.”
Additional information in respect of Ordinary Resolution
numbers 4.1, 4.2 and 4.3
In terms of section 94(2) of the Companies Act, the Audit and
Risk Committee is a committee elected by shareholders at
each AGM.  In terms of Regulation 42 of the Companies Act
Regulations, at least 1/3 (one third) of the members of the
Company’s Audit and Risk Committee must have academic
qualifications, or experience in, economics, law, corporate
governance, finance, accounting, commerce, industry,
public affairs or human resource management.   The Board
is satisfied that the Company’s Audit and Risk Committee
members are suitably skilled, experienced as contemplated
in Regulation 42 of the Companies Act Regulations and
collectively they have the sufficient qualifications and
experience to fulfil their duties as contemplated in Section
94(7) of the Companies Act.

Special Resolutions
1.

Special Resolution number 1
Authority to issue Shares in terms of section 41(1) of
the Companies Act
“Resolved that the Company is authorised, to the extent
permitted by and subject to compliance with the applicable
provisions of the MOI and the Companies Act, and to the
extent that the exceptions provided for in section 41(2) of
the Companies Act do not apply to the issuance of shares
to such persons, the Company is authorised in terms of
section 41(1) ( as read with section 41(2) of the Companies
Act), until the next AGM (whereupon this authority shall
lapse, unless it is renewed thereat), provided that it shall not
extend beyond 15 (fifteen months) of the date of this meeting,
to issue authorised but unissued shares to Dr NJ Dlamini
(being a director of the Company as at the date of passing
this resolution) and/or any other person who is: (a) a director,
future director, prescribed officer, or future prescribed
officer of the Company; (b) a person related or inter-related
to the Company, or any director or prescribed officer of the
Company; or (c) a nominee of a person contemplated in (a)
or (b), on terms and conditions that are in general no less
favourable to the Company than those which the Company
may achieve on market related arms’ length terms.”
Explanatory notes
A director has requested that the Company affords her
the opportunity to take up shares in the Company.   In
terms of section 41(1) of the Companies Act, such an
issue of shares must be approved by a special resolution
of the shareholders of a Company, if the shares are issued
to persons as contemplated in paragraphs (a) to ( c) of the
above resolution (unless one of the limited exemptions set
out in section 41(2) apply).

2.

Explanatory notes
In terms of section 41(3) of the Companies Act, an issue
of shares requires the approval of shareholders by special
resolution, if the voting power of the class of shares that are
issued as a result of the transaction will be equal to or exceed
30% of the voting power of all the shares of that class held
by shareholders immediately before the transaction.   The
company is anticipating that it will be in a position to provide
a notice to shareholders to subscribe for the remaining
outstanding portion of the additional subscription shares
during the forthcoming financial year and before the date
of the next AGM.  The additional subscription shares to be
issued in terms of this notice will exceed 30% of the voting
power of the ordinary shares currently in issue.

3.

Special Resolution number 3
General authority to allot and issue shares
“Resolved that, subject to the applicable provisions of
the MOI and the Companies Act, the Board is authorised
to allot and issue any authorised but unissued shares at
their discretion, in accordance with the provisions of the
subscription agreement.”
Explanatory notes
The Board is granted a general authority to allot and
issue any authorised, but unissued shares, in terms of the
subscription agreement.  The Board must satisfy itself that
the subscription price constitutes adequate consideration.

Special Resolution number 2
Authority to issue additional ordinary shares with voting
power that will, upon issue, exceed 30% of the existing
voting power of the ordinary shares currently in issue.
“Resolved that the Directors of the Company are
authorised, by way of a general authority and to the extent
required in terms of the provisions of section 41(3) of the
Companies Act, to issue such number of ordinary shares in
the authorised, but unissued share capital of the Company,
as are required to give effect to the terms of the subscription
agreement between the Company and its shareholders,
relating to the subscription by the shareholders for the
additional subscription shares.”    
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Approvals required for resolutions
IIn terms of the Companies Act and the MOI, Ordinary Resolutions
numbers 1 to 4 (including 1.1, 1.2, 1.3, 4.1, 4.2 and 4.3), contained
in this Notice, require the approval by more than 50% (fifty
percent) of the votes exercised on the resolutions by shareholders
present or represented by proxy at the AGM.
In terms of the Companies Act and the MOI, Special Resolutions
numbers 1, 2 and 3, contained in this Notice, require the approval
by at least 75% (seventy five percent) of the votes exercised on
the resolutions by shareholders present or represented by proxy
at the AGM.
Attendance and voting by shareholders or proxies
Ordinary shareholders are entitled to attend, speak and vote at
the AGM.
Any shareholder is entitled to appoint one or more proxy or proxies
to attend, participate in and speak and vote at the AGM in their
stead.   The person or persons so appointed as proxy or proxies
need not be a shareholder or shareholders of the Company.
Forms of proxy (which form is included with this notice of AGM)
must be lodged with the Company, at 1 Discovery Place, Sandton,
or posted to the Company at PO Box 786722, Sandton, 2146 to be
received by the Company anytime from 23 October 2019, but no
later than 14h00 on Wednesday 30 October 2019, being not less
than 48 (forty eight) hours before the AGM, to be held on Friday
1 November 2019 at 14h00, in accordance with clause 24.3.2 of
the MOI.   Any forms of proxy not received by this time must be
handed to the Chairman of the AGM immediately prior to the
commencement of the AGM before your proxy may exercise any
of your rights as a shareholder at the AGM.
On a poll, every shareholder of the Company shall have one vote
for every share held in the Company by such shareholder.  Voting
on the Ordinary and Special Resolutions to be proposed at the
AGM will be voted on by a poll.
By order of the Board

C Winter
Company Secretary
11 October 2019
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Annexure A: Biography –
Dr. Yvonne G. Muthien
Dr Yvonne G. Muthien
Independent Non-Executive Director
• D.Phil. (Oxford University, UK)
• M.A. (Northwestern University, USA)
• B.A. Hons (UWC)
Yvonne is an experienced corporate executive and non-executive
director. She is currently the Independent Non-Executive
Chairperson of Rhodes Food Group and is an Independent
Non-Executive Director of Thebe Investment Corporation and
the South African Reserve Bank. Yvonne was previously Chief
Executive of Group Services and Executive Director of Sanlam
Limited, Vice President of Public Affairs for Coca-Cola Africa,
and Group Executive of Corporate Affairs at MTN Group. She has
substantial experience in academia, and public service and private
sector executive management.
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Form of Proxy
The SA SME Fund Limited
Incorporated in the Republic of South Africa
Registration number 2016/238385/06
(‘the Company’)
For use by registered shareholders of the Company at the Annual General Meeting of the Company (“AGM”) to be held at 14h00, on Friday1 November 2019, at
1 Discovery Place, Sandton, 2196.
Each shareholder entitled to attend and vote at the AGM may appoint one or more proxy or proxies (who need not be a shareholder of the Company) to attend,
participate in and speak and vote in place of that shareholder at the AGM, and at any adjournment thereof.

Please note the following:
•

The appointment of your proxy may be suspended at any time to the extent that you choose to act directly and in person in the exercise of your rights as a
shareholder at the AGM
The appointment of a proxy is revocable and you may revoke the proxy appointment by (i) cancelling it in writing or making a later inconsistent appointment of a proxy; and
(ii)  delivering a copy of the revocation instrument to the proxy, and the Company.

•

Kindly note that, meeting participants (including a proxy or proxies) are required in terms of section 63(1) of the Companies Act no. 71 of 2008 as amended
(‘the Companies Act) to provide reasonably satisfactory identification before being entitled to attend or participate in the AGM. Forms of identification include
a green bar-coded identification document or identification card issued by the South African Department of Home Affairs, a driver’s licence or a valid passport.
I/We (please print)

name

of

address
(contact number)

being the holders of

ordinary shares in the Company, hereby appoint (see Note 1)

1.

or failing him/her

2.

or failing him/her

3. the Chairman of the AGM,
as my/our proxy to attend, participate in and speak and vote for me/us and on my/our behalf or to abstain from voting at the AGM which will be held for the
purposes of considering and, if deemed fit, passing the resolutions to be passed thereat, with or without modification, and at any adjournment thereof, in
accordance with the following instructions (see note 2).

Insert the number of votes exercisable (one vote per share)

For
1.

Against

Abstain

Ordinary Resolution number 1: Re-election of directors
1.1. Mr A Gore
1.2. Dr NJ Dlamini
1.3. Ms DD Mokgatle

2.

Ordinary resolution number 2: Election of additional director – Dr YG Muthien

3.

Ordinary resolution number 3: Re-appointment of external auditor

4.

Ordinary resolution number 4: Re-appointment of independent Audit and Risk Committee
4.1. Mr NG Payne
4.2. Ms DD Mokgatle
4.3. Dr NJ Dlamini

5.

Special Resolution number 1: Authority to issue shares in terms of section 41(1) of the
Companies Act

6.

Special Resolution number 2: Authority in terms of Section 41(3) of the Companies Act

7.

Special Resolution number 3: General authority to allot and issue shares

Note: Insert an “X” in the relevant spaces above or the number of votes exercisable (one vote per share) according to how you wish your vote to be cast. An “X”
in the relevant spaces above indicates the maximum number of votes exercisable. If you wish to cast your votes in respect of a lesser number of shares than you
own in the Company, insert the number of shares held in respect of which you wish to vote.
Signed at

on

Signature
Assisted by me (where applicable)
Please read the summary of the rights in respect of proxy appointments established by Section 58 of the Companies Act and instructions overleaf.
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Notes to the Form of Proxy
Summary of shareholders’ rights in respect of proxy
appointments as contained in Section 58 of the Companies Act
Please note that in terms of section 58 of the Companies Act:
•
•

•
•

•

•
•

•

•

•

This form of proxy must be in writing, dated and signed by the
shareholder appointing the proxy.
You may appoint an individual as a proxy, including an
individual who is not a shareholder of the Company, to
participate in, and speak and vote at, the AGM, on your behalf.
Your proxy may delegate his/her authority to act on your behalf
to another person, subject to any restriction set out in this form.
This form of proxy must be delivered to the Company before
your proxy exercises any of your voting rights as a shareholder at
the AGM.  Any form of proxy not received by the Company must
be handed to the Chairman of the AGM before your proxy may
exercise any of your voting rights as a shareholder at the AGM.
The appointment of your proxy or proxies will be suspended at
any time to the extent that you choose to act directly in person in
the exercise of any of your rights as a shareholder at the AGM.
The appointment of your proxy is revocable unless you
expressly state otherwise in this form of proxy.
As the appointment of your proxy is revocable, you may
revoke the proxy appointment by – (i) cancelling it in writing
or making a later inconsistent appointment of a proxy; and (ii)
delivering a copy of the revocation instrument to the proxy,
and the Company. Please note that the revocation of a proxy
appointment constitutes a complete and final cancellation
of your proxy’s authority to act on your behalf as of the later
of the date stated in the revocation instrument, if any, or the
date on which the revocation instrument was delivered to the
proxy and the Company as aforesaid.
If this form of proxy has been delivered to the Company, as
long as that appointment remains in effect, any notice that is
required by the Companies Act or the MOI to be delivered by
the Company to you must be delivered by the Company to you
or your proxy or proxies, if you have directed the Company to
do so, in writing, and paid any reasonable fees charged by the
Company for doing so.
Your proxy is entitled to exercise, or abstain from exercising,
any voting rights of yours without direction at the AGM, except
to the extent that this form of proxy provides otherwise.
The appointment of your proxy remains valid only until
the end of the AGM or any adjournment or postponement
thereof, unless it is revoked by you before then on the basis
set out above.

Instructions on signing and lodging the form of proxy
1. A shareholder may insert the name of a proxy or the names
of two alternative proxies of the shareholder’s choice in the
space/s provided, with or without deleting “the Chairman
of the AGM”, but any such deletion must be initialled  by the
shareholder. Should this space be left blank, the Chairman
of the AGM will exercise the proxy. The person whose name
appears first on the form of proxy and who is present at the
AGM will be entitled to act as proxy to the exclusion of those
whose names follow.
2. A shareholder’s voting instructions to the proxy   must be
indicated by the insertion of an “X” or the number of votes
exercisable by that shareholder in the appropriate spaces
provided. An “X” in the appropriate box indicates the maximum
number of votes exercisable by that shareholder. Failure to do
so shall be deemed to authorise the proxy to vote or to abstain
from voting at the AGM, as he/she thinks fit in respect of all of
the shareholder’s exercisable votes. A shareholder or his/her
proxy is not obliged to use all the votes exercisable by his/her
proxy but the total number of votes cast, or this in respect of
which abstention is recorded, may not exceed the total number
of votes exercisable by the shareholder or by his/her proxy.
3. A minor must be assisted by his/her parent or guardian
unless the relevant documents establishing his/her legal
capacity are produced.
4. Forms of proxy (which form is included with this notice of
AGM) must be lodged with the Company at 1 Discovery
Place, Sandton or posted to the Company at PO Box 786722,
Sandton, 2146 to be received by the Company by no later than
14h00 on Wednesday, 30 October 2019, being not less than
48 (forty eight) hours before the AGM to be held on Friday, 1
November 2019at 14h00 in accordance with clause 24.3.2 of
the MOI.  Any forms of proxy not received by this time must be
handed to the Chairman of the AGM immediately prior to the
commencement of the AGM.
5. Documentary evidence establishing the authority of a
person signing this form of proxy in a representative capacity
must be attached to this form of proxy unless waived by the
Chairman of the AGM.
6. The completion and lodging of this form of proxy shall not
preclude the relevant shareholder from attending the AGM
and speaking and voting in person thereat to the exclusion of
any proxy or proxies appointed in terms hereof, should such
shareholder wish to do so.
7. The completion of any blank spaces on the form of proxy need
not be initialled. Any alterations or corrections to this form of
proxy must be initialled by the signatory/ies.
8. The Chairman of the AGM may reject or accept any form of
proxy which is completed other than in accordance with these
instructions provided that he is satisfied as to the manner in
which a shareholder wishes to vote.
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Administration
The SA SME Fund Limited’s directors
The following were the directors of the Company during the
current financial year and to the date of distribution of this notice:
Non- Executive directors
A Gore
QM Dicks (resigned 31 July 2018)
NJ Dlamini
B Joffe (resigned 30 September 2019)
JA Mabuza
DM Matjila (resigned 4 February 2019)
DD Mokgatle
NG Payne
CH Wiese (resigned 12 September 2018)
Auditors
Deloitte & Touche
Building 8, Deloitte Place
The Woodlands
Woodlands Drive
Woodmead
Company Secretary
C Winter
Registered Office
1 Discovery Place, Sandton, 2196
PO Box 786722, Sandton, 2146
The SA SME Fund Limited
Registration number: 2016/238385/06
Company tax reference number: 9328138194
www.sasmefund.co.za
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